REGULATION OF PLANT DEFENSE RESPONSES DOWNSTREAM

OF PAMP RECEPTORS

by

Yukino Nitta

B.Sc., Hokkaido University, 2012

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES (Botany)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA (Vancouver)

December 2014

© Yukino Nitta, 2014

Abstract

The primary layer of plant immunity is pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP)-triggered immunity (PTI). In PTI, when pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) recognize PAMPs, a highly regulated, rapid downstream signaling response such as activation of mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases, production of ROS and defense gene expression is initiated. My study involves the identification of MAP kinases activated in PTI and regulation of PTI responses by E3 ubiquitin ligases. In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, MPK3, MPK4, and MPK6 are activated upon PAMP treatment. However, previous studies suggest that there are more MAP kinases activated upon PAMP treatment. To identify the additional MAP kinases phosphorylated upon PAMP perception, transgenic plants expressing candidate MPKs with a ZZ-FLAG double tag (approx. 17kD) were generated in Col-0 background. Western blot analysis identified three MAP kinases, MPK1, MPK11 and MPK13 that are phosphorylated upon PAMP treatment.

To identify E3 ligases involved in PTI, E3 ligases whose transcripts are up-regulated upon PAMP treatment were selected for our study. Transgenic lines overexpressing candidate E3 ligases were assayed for deficiencies in PTI. Overexpression of *U6*, one of the selected E3 ligases, lead to severe reduction of flg22-induced reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and increased susceptibility to *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* (*P.s.t.*) DC3000 *hrcC*. Furthermore, when *U6* was overexpressed in BIK1 (a positive regulator of PTI)-HA transgenic plants, there was a decrease in BIK1-HA protein expression, leading to the hypothesis that BIK1 may be a potential target of U6.

Overall, my thesis contributes to a better understanding of the signaling and negative regulation of PTI. Advancing our knowledge in plant immunity leads to the potential of its use in agriculture and plant protection.

Preface

The work described in this thesis is the culmination of research from May 2012 through November 2014. Below is a list of manuscripts (published or in preparation) that comprise this thesis, and the contribution made by the candidate.

Chapter 1, 1.1.6.5 - Heterotrimeric G proteins was modified from the manuscript:

<u>Nitta, Y.</u>, Ding, P., Zhang, Y. (2014). Heterotrimeric G proteins in plant defense against pathogens and ABA signaling. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. DOI: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2014.06.011

• The candidate collated, summarized, and analysed information from the literature published on this topic, drafted the manuscript, and created the figures under the supervision of Zhang, Y. The manuscript was carefully revised by Ding, P. and Zhang, Y.

Chapter 2 - Identification of additional MAP kinases activated upon PAMP treatment was modified from the manuscript:

<u>Nitta, Y.</u>, Ding, P., Zhang, Y. (2014) Identification of additional MAP kinases activated upon PAMP treatment. *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, in press.

• The candidate conducted most of the experiments, prepared the figures, and drafted the manuscript under the supervision of Zhang, Y. Zhang, Y. chose the MAP kinase candidates to be tested. Zhang, Y. also designed the experiments. Ding, P. aided with the construction of the plasmids for the transgenic plants. Chapter 3 - Identification and analysis of an E3 ligase involved in the regulation of **PAMP-triggered immunity** describes an on-going project:

The candidate conducted most of the experiments and prepared the figures. Zhang, Y. selected the E3 ligase candidates to be screened. Zhang, Y. also designed the experiments. Qiu, J. helped with the screening of the candidate E3 ligases. Transgenic lines overexpressing candidate E3 ligases were generated and provided to us by Tong, M. as a collaboration with the lab of Li, X.

Table of contents

Abstractii
Prefaceiii
Table of contentsv
List of tables
List of figures viii
List of abbreviationsix
Acknowledgementsxii
Chapter 1 Introduction – literature review
1.1 PAMP-triggered immunity 1
1.1.1 Flagellin and FLS2 1
1.1.2 Elongation factor-Tu and EFR
1.1.3 Chitin, peptidoglycan and CERK1
1.1.4 PAMP responses
1.1.5 The contribution of PTI in plant defense
1.1.6 Downstream signaling
1.1.6.1 BAK1
1.1.6.2 BIK1
1.1.6.3 IOS1
1.1.6.4 PBL27
1.1.6.5 Heterotrimeric G proteins
1.2 MAP kinase signaling 12
1.3 Negative regulation of PTI by ubiquitination
Chapter 2 Identification of additional MAP kinases activated upon PAMP treatment 16

2.1	Summary 16		
2.2	Introduction		
2.3	Materials and methods		
2.3.	1 Construction of plasmids	18	
2.3.2 MAP kinase protein activation assay		19	
2.3.	3 Pathogen growth assay using <i>P.s.t.</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i> ⁻	19	
2.4	Results and discussion	20	
Chapter	pter 3 Identification and analysis of an E3 ligase involved in the regulation of PAMP-		
triggered	l immunity	24	
3.1	Summary	24	
3.2	Introduction	25	
1.3	Materials and methods	26	
1.3.	1 Screening candidate E3 ligases	26	
1.3.	2 Pathogen growth assay using <i>P.s.t.</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i> ⁻	26	
1.3.	3 PAMP-induced ROS production assay	27	
1.3.	4 <i>U6</i> transcript expression analysis	27	
1.3.	5 Construction of plasmids	28	
1.3.6 BIK1 protein expression assay		29	
1.3.7 Co-immunoprecipitation in tobacco		29	
1.4 F	Results and discussion	30	
Chapter	4 Future directions and conclusions	41	
Reference	ces	45	

List of tables

Table 1 Primers used for the construction of plasmids	19
Table 2 Primers used for real-time PCR of U6	28
Table 3 Primers used for the construction of plasmids	29
Table 4 Scored results of the growth of <i>P.s.t.</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i> ⁻ and production of ROS in the	
overexpression lines of candidate E3 ligases	31

List of figures

Figure 1 Activation of MPK-FLAG-ZZ fusion proteins in transgenic plants by flg22 21
Figure 2 Growth of <i>P. s. t.</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i> in Col-0, <i>mpk1</i> , <i>mpk11</i> and <i>mpk13</i> plants
Figure 3 Induction of <i>U6</i> expression by flg22 and <i>P.s.m.</i> ES4326
Figure 4 Growth of <i>P.s.t.</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i> ⁻ in Col-0 and two independent lines overexpressing
U6
Figure 5 Production of PAMP-induced ROS in Col-0 and two independent lines
overexpressing U6
Figure 6 U6 expression in Col-0, U6 OX-1 and U6 OX-7
Figure 8 BIK1-HA protein levels in transgenic plants overexpressing U6
Figure 9 Amino acid sequence of U6
Figure 10 BIK1-HA protein expression in transgenic plants overexpressing dominant
negative forms of U6

List of abbreviations

35S CaMV a very strong constitutive promoter found in C mosaic virus (CaMV)		
AGB1	ARABIDOPSIS G-PROTEIN β -SUBUNIT1	
AGG1/AGG2	ARABIDOPSIS G-PROTEIN γ-	
	SUBUNIT1/ARABIDOPSIS G-PROTEIN γ- SUBUNIT2	
AvrPphB	an avirulence protein from <i>Pseudomonas syringae</i>	
AvrPto	an avirulence protein from <i>Pseudomonas syringae</i>	
AvrPtoB	an avirulence protein from <i>Pseudomonas syringae</i>	
BABA	β-aminobutyric acid	
BAK1	BRI1-associated kinase1	
BIK1	BOTRYTIS-INDUCED KINASE1	
BKK1	BAK1-like1	
BRI1	BRASSINOSTEROID-INSENSITIVE1	
cDNA	complementary DNA	
CEBiP	rice chitin elicitor-binding protein	
CERK1	CHITIN ELICITOR RECEPTOR KINASE1	
CFU	colony-forming units	
Col-0	an Arabidopsis ecotype; it is also referred as wild-type	
	in this thesis	
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid	
E1	ubiquitin-activating enzyme	
E2	ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme	
E3	ubiquitin ligase	
EFR	EF-Tu receptor	
EF-Tu	bacterial translation Elongation Factor Tu	
elf18	an N-acetylated peptide comprising the first 18 amino acids of bacterial elongation factor Tu	
ERF	ethylene response factor	
ERK	extracellular signal-regulated kinase	
ETI	effector-triggered immunity	
FLAG-ZZ	double epitope protein tags consisting of a single or	
	repeated DYKDDDDK sequence (FLAG) and a	
	sequence synthesized from the B domain of Protein A (ZZ)	
flg22	flagellin conserved domain of 22 amino acids that are	
	recognized by FLS2	
FLS2	FLAGELLIN-SENSITIVE 2; flagellin receptor	
GDP	guanosine diphosphate	
GPA1	ARABIDOPSIS G-PROTEIN α-SUBUNIT1	
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor	

GTP	guanosine triphosphate
Gα	G-protein a subunit
Gβ	G-protein β subunit
Gγ	G-protein γ subunit
НА	hemagglutinin; an epitope protein tag compose of a single or repeated YPYDVPDYA sequence
HECT	Homologous to the E6-AP Carboxyl Terminus; an 40 kDa catalytic domain found at the C-terminus of HECT- class E3 ubiquitin protein ligases
HopAI1	an avirulence protein from <i>Pseudomonas syringae</i>
HopS1	an avirulence protein from Pseudomonas syringae
IOS1	IMPARED OOMYCETE SUSCEPTIBLITY1
Ler	Landsberg erecta; an Arabidopsis ecotype
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
LYM	lysin-motif protein
LysM	lysin-motif
MAP kinase/MPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MAP2K/MAPKK/MKK	MAP kinase kinase
MAP3K/MAPKKK	MAP kinase kinase
MEKK	MAPK/ERK KINASE KINASE
MS media	Murashige and Skoog media
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NB-LRR	nucleotide binding-leucine rich repeat
NHO1	NONHOST1
OD	optical density
P.s.m. ES4326	Pseudomonas syringae pv. maculicola ES4326
P.s.t. DC3000	Pseudomonas syringae pv tomato DC3000
<i>P.s.t.</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i>	<i>Pseudomonas syringae</i> pv <i>tomato</i> DC3000 <i>hrcC</i> ; mutated in a component of the type three secretion system (TTSS)
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBL27	PBS1-like27
PBS1	AVRPPHB SUSCEPTIBLE 1
pCambia1305-FLAG-ZZ	a modified pCambia 1305 vector with FLAG-ZZ tags used for constructing plasmid
PGN	peptidoglycan
pGST1	a modified pGreen vector used for constructing plasmid
pmr4	powdery mildew resistant4
<i>PR</i> gene	pathogenesis-related gene
PRR	pattern-recognition receptor
PTI	PAMP-triggered immunity
PUB	PLANT U-BOX proteins

R protein	resistance protein	
RBOHD	RESPIRATORY BURST OXIDASE HOMOLOG D	
RING	Really Interesting New Gene	
RLCK	receptor-like cytoplasmic kinase	
RLK	receptor-like kinase	
RNA	ribonucleic acid	
ROS	reactive oxygen species	
SA	salicylic acid	
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel	
	electrophoresis	
SUMM2	SUPPRESSOR of mkk1 mkk2, 2	
TAIR	The Arabidopsis Information Resource	
T-DNA	transfer-DNA	
TTSS	type-three secretion system	
Ws-0	Wassilewskija; an Arabidopsis ecotype	

Acknowledgements

The completion of my M.Sc. thesis was supported and assisted by many people whom I would like to acknowledge.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Yuelin Zhang, for giving me this opportunity to work in his lab. I would like to thank him especially for his time, patience, guidance, encouragement and support that he has given me during my time here. The training and advice he has provided are extremely valuable to me and my scientific growth.

I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Carl Douglas and Dr. Xin Li, for their highly appreciated comments and suggestions during my committee meetings. Their careful reading and revisions for this thesis are also greatly appreciated.

I want to acknowledge Dr. Pingtao Ding for training me with various PTI assays including bacterial growth, ROS and MAP kinase induction assays when I was a new graduate student.

I thank Dr. Brian Ellis for the *mpk* knockout mutants and Mr. Charles Copeland and Dr. Xin Li for editing of the manuscript (Chapter 2). I would also like to thank Ms. Meixuezi Tong for providing me with the overexpression lines of E3 ligases used in the study as well as Ms. Jessica Qiu who helped me with the primary screen of the E3 ligases.

I want to thank all of the people who work in Dr. Yuelin Zhang's lab as well as Dr. Xin Li's lab for discussions, training and assistance.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement. Without them, this thesis would not have been possible.

Chapter 1 Introduction – literature review¹

Plants have evolved a variety of defense mechanisms to protect themselves from diverse microbial pathogens in the environment. The plant immune system consists of two conceptual layers: pathogen associated molecular pattern (PAMP)-triggered immunity (PTI) and effector-triggered immunity (ETI). In PTI, certain molecular motifs associated with groups of pathogens (PAMPs) are recognized by pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) on the plasma membrane of plant cells. This recognition triggers signal transduction pathways leading to downstream defense responses including callose deposition, stomatal closure and the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS). However, successful pathogens have evolved effectors that suppress this response to overcome the effects of PTI, possibly as a result of co-evolution. Furthermore, to counteract this, plants have evolved another layer of defense, ETI. In ETI, resistance (R) proteins recognize specific pathogen effector molecules to initiate defense responses. The resistance mediated by R proteins are typically amplified versions of PTI responses, often leading to the hypersensitive response (Jones & Dangl, 2006). My research is focused mainly on the signal transduction and regulation that occurs during the activation of the first layer of defense, PTI.

1.1 PAMP-triggered immunity

1.1.1 Flagellin and FLS2

The locomotive apparatus of mobile bacteria, flagellum, is made up of the protein building block flagellin. Bacterial flagellin was identified as the first general elicitor isolated from bacteria, to induce defense-like responses in suspension-cultured tobacco cells (Felix,

¹ A portion of this chapter has been published. Nitta Y, Ding P, Zhang Y. (2014). *Environmental and Experimental Botany*. DOI: 10.1016/j.envexpbot.2014.06.011

Duran, Volko, & Boller, 1999). The N-terminus of bacterial flagellin is highly conserved and a 22 amino acid sequence spanning this domain was found to be a very strong elicitor. This peptide was named flg22 (Felix et al., 1999). When *Arabidopsis thaliana* is treated with flg22, it elicits callose deposition and *pathogenesis-related (PR)* gene expression, suggesting an important role of flg22 in the induction of plant defense (Gómez-Gómez, Felix, & Boller, 1999).

To identify components involved in flagellin perception, a forward genetics screen was carried out to look for mutants insensitive to flg22. The receptor kinase FLAGELLIN-SENSING2 (FLS2) was identified in this screen, suggesting its involvement in flagellin recognition (Gomez-Gomez & Boller, 2000). FLS2 consists of an extracellular leucine-rich repeat (LRR) region, a transmembrane motif and a cytoplasmic kinase domain (Gomez-Gomez & Boller, 2000). In the two *fls2* alleles found, one contains a point mutation in the LRR domain and the other has a point mutation in the kinase domain. The insensitivity to flg22 in the two *fls2* mutants can be complemented with the wild-type *FLS2* gene, suggesting that both the LRR and kinase domains are necessary for flg22 perception (Gómez-Gómez, Bauer, & Boller, 2001). FLS2 was further demonstrated to directly bind to flg22 by immunoprecipitation and affinity cross-linking assays in Arabidopsis and tomato cells (Chinchilla, Bauer, Regenass, Boller, & Felix, 2006). To find the exact residues responsible for flg22 perception, a double-Ala scanning mutagenesis was performed on the FLS2 LRR, which revealed that FLS2 LRR residues 9 to 15 are specifically responsible for flg22 perception (Dunning, Sun, Jansen, Helft, & Bent, 2007).

1.1.2 Elongation factor-Tu and EFR

Bacterial translation elongation factor (EF)-Tu was also identified as a PAMP. When suspension cultured *Arabidopsis* cells were challenged with crude extracts from *Escherichia coli* GI826, a strain which lacks the flagellin elicitor, defense responses were still observed, suggesting the existence of a PAMP other than flagellin in the crude bacterial extract. Through fractionation of the crude bacterial extract and testing the fractions for elicitor activity, EF-Tu was identified as an elicitor of defense responses. By testing different fragments of the proteins, it was found that the N terminus of EF-Tu contains the elicitor activity. Further analysis showed that an 18 amino acid peptide from the N-terminus of EF-Tu (elf18) exhibits full elicitor activity (Kunze et al., 2004).

Because plants treated with flagellin and EF-Tu activate a common set of defense responses, it was hypothesized that EF-Tu would be recognised by an RLK similar to FLS2. EF-Tu receptor (EFR) was identified by analysing T-DNA insertion mutants of elf-18 induced RLKs which are unable to perceive EF-Tu. When EFR is transiently expressed in *Nicotiana benthamiana,* which lacks the ability to recognize EF-Tu, the plant gained the ability to respond to EF-Tu (Zipfel et al., 2006), confirming the specificity of EFR in recognizing EF-Tu of bacterial pathogens.

1.1.3 Chitin, peptidoglycan and CERK1

Chitin, a component of the fungal cell wall, is also a heavily studied PAMP. Chitin and its fragments have been shown to induce defense responses in both monocots and dicots (Shibuya & Minami, 2001). In rice, the chitin elicitor-binding protein (CEBiP) was shown to play an important role in the recognition of chitin. CEBiP has two extracellular lysin motif (LysM) domains and a transmembrane domain (Kaku et al., 2006). LysM domains are able to recognize polysaccharides with *N*-acetylglucosamine residues such as peptidoglycan and chitin. To identify proteins involved in the perception of chitin in *Arabidopsis*, knock-out lines of genes encoding proteins with LysM motifs were screened for loss of ROS accumulation in response to the chitin elicitor. This led to the identification of CERK1. The *cerk1* mutant is unable to respond to the chitin elicitor. CERK1 has a transmembrane domain and was shown to localize to the plasma membrane (Miya et al., 2007). CERK1 was also identified in a similar reverse genetics screen where the knock-out lines of proteins which contain LysM motifs were screened for the lack of induction of defense related genes after chitin treatment (Wan et al., 2008). These studies demonstrated the important role of CERK1 in the perception and signaling of chitin induced responses.

In a separate study, CERK1, along with two LysM domain proteins (LYM1 and LYM3), were demonstrated to be required for the perception of another PAMP, bacterial peptidoglycan (PGN), which is structurally closely related to chitin. Using a reverse genetics approach, LYM1 and LYM3 were characterized as possible PGN receptors because of their localization to the plasma membrane and their structure similarity to rice CEBiP. Although the *lym1* and *lym3* mutants had altered PGN induced gene expression and increased virulence to a bacterial pathogen compared to Col-0, they lack a cytoplasmic domain, suggesting that their signaling requires additional proteins. As *cerk1* mutants showed compromised immunity against bacterial pathogens, CERK1 is required for immunity against bacteria as well as fungi. When tested for PGN-induced gene expression, CERK1 was found to be required for the perception of PGN (Willmann et al., 2011). Therefore, CERK1 has dual functions in the perception of two different PAMPs, chitin and PGN.

1.1.4 PAMP responses

Upon PAMP perception by its corresponding PRR, several PTI responses are induced. They can be used to quantify the magnitude of the defense response. Some of these responses include callose deposition, accumulation of ROS and stomatal closure. As stated previously, flg22 is a peptide of flagellin that can induce defenes-related responses. The *Arabidopsis* ecotype Wassilewskija (Ws-0) is known to be unresponsive to flg22. When Ws-0 and *Landsberg erecta* (*Ler*), an ecotype of *Arabidopsis* that is responsive to flg22, were treated with flg22, high callose deposition was seen only in the treated *Ler* leaves but not in Ws-0 (Gómez-Gómez et al., 1999), suggesting that callose deposition is an inducible response by PAMPs.

Callose deposition is thought to strengthen the cell wall and considered to contribute positively to pathogen resistance. However, the *powdery mildew resistant4 (pmr4)* mutant, carrying a mutation in a callose synthase gene, is more resistant to pathogens even though it lost all induced callose deposition. The *pmr4* mutant showed small lesions on the leaf suggesting hypersensitive response (HR). Because salicylic acid (SA) is often involved in HR, double mutant analysis between *pmr4* and mutants blocking SA defense signaling was carried out. The double mutant showed restored susceptibility to powdery mildew, suggesting that callose deposition is not only an inducible defense response upon PAMP treatment, it is also critical for negative feedback regulation of the SA signaling pathway (Nishimura et al., 2003).

Accumulation of ROS is another early defense response that can be triggered by PAMP perception. The mutants *fls2* and *efr* do not accumulate ROS when treated with its corresponding peptide flg22 and elf18 respectively. However, they do produce ROS when

5

treated with the opposite peptide (Zipfel et al., 2006). Thus, the accumulation of ROS can also be used to measure the magnitude of defense responses induced by PAMPs. There are many possible effects of this accumulation of ROS, which include strengthening the cell wall and regulating defense by acting as a defense signal or by working with other signaling molecules (Torres, Jones, & Dangl, 2006).

Stomatal closure is also one of the earliest host responses after perceiving a pathogen or PAMPs. In wild-type *Arabidopsis* plants, stomatal aperture was drastically reduced upon flg22 treatment. However, this reduction was not seen in the *fls2* mutant plants when treated with flg22, suggesting the necessity of PAMP perception in reducing stomatal aperture. The importance of this defense-response by the plant is also supported by the discovery of the coronatine virulence factor that pathogens secrete into the plant to block stomatal closure (Melotto, Underwood, Koczan, Nomura, & He, 2006).

1.1.5 The contribution of PTI in plant defense

Phenotypic analysis of mutants defective in PAMP receptors demonstrated the importance of PTI. When wild-type and *fls2* mutant plants were treated with flg22, defense-related genes and resistance to pathogenic bacteria was induced in wild-type plants, but not in the mutants. Although *fls2* and wild-type plants show similar susceptibility to the bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000 (*P.s.t.* DC3000) when they are directly infiltrated into the leaf, *fls2* is more susceptible when the bacteria is sprayed onto the leaves, suggesting that flg22 perception by FLS2 plays a role in the early stages of defense which may consist of the prevention of bacterial invasion in the first place (Zipfel et al., 2004). When EFR is mutated in *Arabidopsis*, plants become more susceptible and prone to transformation by the virulent bacteria *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, which has high EF-Tu

elicitor activity. This indicates that perception of EF-Tu triggers a defense response which hinders *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation (Zipfel et al., 2006). *cerk1* mutants also show defective defense responses such as lack of induction of defense gene expression and accumulation of ROS after treatment with chitin. The *cerk1* mutant is more susceptible to the fungal pathogen *Alternaria brassicicola* (Miya et al., 2007) as well as the bacterial pathogen *P.s.t.* DC3000, indicating that perception of PAMP signaling by CERK1 is important in both fungal and bacterial defense responses (Willmann et al., 2011).

Increasing evidence that pathogenic effectors often target components of PTI also support the importance of PTI in plant defense. The expression of *NONHOST1* (*NHO1*) is strongly induced by flg22 and a non-host bacterial pathogen in a flagellin dependent manner. *NHO1* encodes a glycerol kinase and is required for the resistance against non-host pathogens. *P.s.t.* DC3000 with a mutation in its type-three secretion system (TTSS) strongly induces *NHO1*, but *P.s.t.* DC3000 can only transiently induce *NHO1*. Expression of a number of *P.s.t.* DC3000 effectors such as, HopAI1, HopS1, and AvrPto supresses flg22-induced *NHO1* expression (X. Li et al., 2005), suggesting that pathogen effectors target signaling components of PTI to suppress defense gene expression.

AvrPtoB, another *P. syringae* effector, suppresses basal defense against pathogens in *Arabidopsis* (de Torres et al., 2006). It was found to ubiquitinate the CERK1 kinase domain *in vitro* and degrades CERK1 *in vivo*. *Arabidopsis* plants expressing *AvrPtoB* were unable to initiate defense-related responses upon chitin treatment (Gimenez-Ibanez et al., 2009).

In addition, AvrPto localizes to the plasma membrane and has kinase-inhibition activity. It interacts with FLS2 and EFR, the PRRs for flagellin and EF-Tu respectively. The interaction correlates with its ability to block PTI in tomato plants (Xiang et al., 2008).

Another effector AvrPphB, was shown to block PTI by cleaving receptor-like cytoplasmic kinases downstream of multiple PRRs such as FLS2 and EFR (J. Zhang et al., 2010). These data support the importance of PTI as the primary layer of defense, as pathogens have evolved effector proteins that specifically target components of PTI to overcome this layer of defense.

1.1.6 Downstream signaling

Formation of receptor complexes and rapid signalling of the extracellular PAMP perception to downstream intracellular signal transduction are also heavily studied subjects in PTI. A number of components were found to function downstream of PAMP receptors, including BRI1-associated kinase1 (BAK1), BOTRYTIS-INDUCED KINASE1 (BIK1), IMPARED OOMYCETE SUSCEPTIBLITY1 (IOS1), PBS1-like27 (PBL27), and heterotrimeric G proteins.

1.1.6.1 BAK1

BRASSINOSTEROID-INSENSITIVE1 (BRI1) is a receptor for the brassinosteroid phytohormone and is involved mainly in plant growth and development. The receptor like kinase (RLK) BAK1 was initially identified in a yeast-two-hybrid screen to search for interactors of BRI1 (Nam & Li, 2002). The *bak1* mutant was later found to exhibit reduction in flagellin and EF-Tu induced responses, suggesting an important role of BAK1 in PAMP signalling (Chinchilla et al., 2007; Heese et al., 2007). When BAK1 is mutated together with its homolog BAK1-like1 (BKK1), the *bak1 bkk1* double mutant displays further diminished defense-related responses in ROS production and defense gene induction (Roux et al., 2011). Upon treatment by flg22, BAK1 rapidly associates with FLS2 *in vivo*, shown by immunoprecipitation assays (Chinchilla et al., 2007; Heese et al., 2007; Heese et al., 2007). In *N. benthamiana*,

BAK1 was also shown to be required for the perception of other PAMPs such as a bacterial cold-shock protein, a PAMP that acts as a highly active elicitor of defense responses in tobacco (Felix & Boller, 2003), and an oomycete elicitor. This demonstrates BAK1 as an important receptor kinase that works with many different PRRs in response to PAMPs (Heese et al., 2007).

The association between BAK1 and FLS2 was shown to occur instantaneously (<1second) after PAMP treatment. The kinase activity of BAK1 was shown to be necessary for this interaction. After flg22-induced interaction between FLS2 and BAK1, phosphorylation was observed in both FLS2 and BAK1. Phosphorylation of BAK1 with immunoprecipitated EFR was seen when plants were treated with elf26 (a peptide of EF-Tu), suggesting that BAK1 also forms a complex with EFR. Thus, phosphorylation of PAMP receptors may be a starting point of intracellular signal transduction that occurs after PAMP perception (Schulze et al., 2010).

1.1.6.2 BIK1

BIK1 was originally identified as a factor of plant defense-responses against necrotrophic pathogens (Veronese et al., 2006). BIK1 is rapidly phosphorylated in response to flg22 treatment. It interacts with both BAK1 and FLS2 *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Similar to BAK1, BIK1 is also a common component in multiple PAMP signaling pathways. The *bik1* mutant plant displayed reduced defense-related responses upon different PAMP treatments, and exhibited enhanced susceptibility to bacterial pathogens (Lu et al., 2010; J. Zhang et al., 2010).

In *Arabidopsis*, rapid accumulation of ROS is mediated by the NADPH oxidase, RESPIRATORY BURST OXIDASE HOMOLOG D (RBOHD). PAMP treatment induces the phosphorylation of RBOHD, leading to the production of ROS. Recently it was shown that RBOHD is constitutively associated in a complex that includes the PRRs at the plasma membrane. The N-terminal domain of RBOHD directly binds BIK1 and BIK1 phosphorylates RBOHD upon PAMP treatment. Phosphorylation of RBOHD by BIK1 is required for its function in ROS production (Kadota et al., 2014; L. Li et al., 2014). These data demonstrate the important role of BIK1 in signal transduction immediately downstream of the PAMP receptors to promote the production of ROS.

1.1.6.3 IOS1

IOS1 was recently identified in a reverse genetics analysis of genes whose expression is induced by the non-protein amino acid, β -aminobutyric acid (BABA). IOS1 encodes a malectin-like RLK. The *ios1* mutants showed enhanced susceptibility towards *P. syringae* pathogens. They were also impaired in defense responses such as induction of defense gene expression and callose deposition upon PAMP treatment and bacterial infection. On the other hand, when IOS1 is overexpressed in *Arabidopsis*, the overexpression lines showed enhanced resistance to *P. syringae* compared to wild-type. Interestingly, IOS1 was found to exist in a complex with FLS2 and EFR, demonstrated by *in vitro* pull down assays and coimmunoprecipitation and mass spectrometry analyses. IOS1 also interacts with BAK1 and positively regulates the FLS2/BAK1 complex formation (Chen et al., 2014). It is likely that IOS1 functions as a positive regulator of signal transduction together with or immediately downstream of PRRs.

1.1.6.4 PBL27

PBL27 was identified as the close homologue of the rice receptor like cytoplasmic kinase (RLCK) 185 that was known to directly interact with rice CERK1. CERK1 was found

to phosphorylate PBL27 *in vitro*. The *pbl27* mutant was impaired in chitin-induced defenseresponses such as callose deposition and resistance to a fungal pathogen. However, *pbl27* does not show an effect when treated with flg22, suggesting that the signaling mediated by PBL27 was specific to CERK1 (Shinya et al., 2014).

1.1.6.5 Heterotrimeric G proteins

Heterotrimeric G proteins were initially discovered as signal transducers in the mammalian system in the 1970s. They are made up of three distinct subunits, G α , G β and G γ . In the widely accepted G-protein paradigm in mammals, the three subunits form an inactive heterotrimer with a GDP-bound G α monomer and G $\beta\gamma$ dimer in the absence of an agonist (activating ligand). The binding of ligands to the G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) results in exchange of GDP from the G α subunit with the GTP and the release of the G protein complex (Oldham & Hamm, 2008). The GTP-bound G α subunit and the G $\beta\gamma$ dimer subsequently dissociates from each other and both activate downstream effectors (Hamm, 1998; Klopffleisch et al., 2012).

Treatment with flg22, elf18 or chitin leads to rapid induction of ROS in wild type plants. In *Arabidopsis g-protein* β -subunit 1 (agb1) mutants, ROS induction by flg22 and chitin is reduced, whereas elf18-induced ROS production is almost completely abolished (Liu et al., 2013). In contrast, mutations in the G α subunit GPA1 have no effect on the ROS induction by flg22, elf18 or chitin. Analysis of ROS induction in the *Arabidopsis g-protein* γ -subunit 1 (agg1) agg2 double mutant showed that flg22 and chitin-induced oxidative burst is also greatly reduced and elf18-induced oxidative burst is nearly abolished. These data suggest that AGB1 and AGG1/2 function downstream of the RLKs FLS2, EFR and CERK1 to regulate PAMP-triggered oxidative burst (Liu et al., 2013).

In wild type plants, pre-treatment with flg22, elf18 or chitin leads to increased resistance to bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* (*P.s.t.*) DC3000. flg22, elf18 and chitin-induced resistance was greatly reduced in *agb1* and *agg1 agg2* mutants, but not affected in *gpa1* mutant plants (Liu et al., 2013), further supporting that AGB1 and AGG1/2 function downstream of the RLKs FLS2, EFR and CERK1 to regulate PAMP-triggered immune responses.

1.2 MAP kinase signaling

Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases are serine/threonine-specific protein kinases. They are involved in many biological processes by responding to a diverse array of stimuli. MAP kinase cascades play important roles in plant immunity. In PTI, generally, stimulated transmembrane receptors such as the *Arabidopsis* PRR, FLS2, activate the MAP kinase kinase kinases (MAP3K/MEKK) which then sequentially phosphorylate the downstream MAP kinase kinases (MAP2K/MKK) which in turn activates MAP kinases (MAPK/MPK). This signaling cascade then leads to defense responses such as the induction of defense-gene expression. Analysis of the *Arabidopsis* genome revealed, 20, 10 and 60, MAPKs, MKKs, and MEKKs' respectively (Asai et al., 2002).

In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, two MAP kinase cascades have been discovered to be activated downstream of PAMP receptors. Upon treatment with flg22, one cascade leads to the activation of MKK4 and MKK5 which then activates MPK3 and MPK6 (Asai et al., 2002). The MEKK phosphorylated upstream of this cascade is still unknown. This cascade positively regulates defense responses as it leads to the transcriptional activation of many defense related gene expressions (Asai et al., 2002). The other cascade leads to the activation of MPK4 through MEKK1 and MKK1/MKK2 (Ichimura, Casais, Peck, Shinozaki, &

Shirasu, 2006; Suarez-Rodriguez et al., 2007). This cascade was demonstrated to negatively regulate a set of defense responses because the loss of function of either MEKK1 or MPK4 shows accumulation of salicylic acid (Ichimura et al., 2006; Suarez-Rodriguez et al., 2007).

In a recent study, a screen was performed to identify suppressors of the *mkk1 mkk2* autoimmune phenotype, which led to the identification of a nucleotide binding leucine-rich repeat (NB-LRR) protein, SUPPRESSOR of *mkk1 mkk2*, 2 (SUMM2) (Z. Zhang et al., 2012). Loss of function of SUMM2 supresses cell death in *mkk1 mkk2* as well as in *mekk1* and *mpk4*. Thus, the MEKK1-MKK1/MKK2-MPK4 cascade negatively regulated SUMM2-mediated immunity. Interestingly, it was also found that this cascade positively regulates basal defense targeted by the pathogenic effector HopAI1 from *P. syringae*. When HOPAI1 inactivates MPK4, SUMM2-mediated defense responses are activated (Z. Zhang et al., 2012). It was also shown that MPK4 specifically negatively regulates MEKK2, a MAP3K functioning upstream of SUMM2 (Kong et al., 2012).

Furthermore, when upstream components such as BAK1, IOS1, and PBL27 are mutated, they show reduced phosphorylation of MAPKs upon treatment with their corresponding PAMP peptide (Chen et al., 2014; Roux et al., 2011; Shinya et al., 2014). These data reveal the signaling cascade that is activated upon PAMP treatment, which eventually lead to defense-related responses such as defense gene induction.

1.3 Negative regulation of PTI by ubiquitination

When plant immunity is constitutively up-regulated, an autoimmune phenotype is seen where plants usually become very small as seen in *mekk1*, *mkk1 mkk2*, and *mpk4* mutant plants. Thus, it is critical to have negative regulators to control the time or duration of the immune responses. Recently ubiquitination has been shown to play an important role in the

negative regulation of PTI. Ubiquitination, often involved in protein degradation, involves three enzymes, the ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1), the ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2) and the ubiquitin ligase enzyme (E3) (Ikeda & Dikic, 2008).

PUB22, PUB23 and PUB24 are three E3 ligases that negatively regulate PTI. All three genes are induced upon flg22 treatment and infection by bacterial and oomycete pathogens. The *pub22 pub23 pub24* triple mutant showed enhanced and prolonged ROS production upon flg22, elf18, and chitin treatment, suggesting that PUB22, PUB23 and PUB24 act to down-regulate ROS production upon PAMP treatment. Other defense responses such as defense gene induction and MAPK activation are also enhanced in the triple mutant, further confirming its negative regulatory role in PTI (Trujillo, Ichimura, Casais, & Shirasu, 2008).

PUB13, another E3 ligase, was identified through a yeast-two-hybrid screen using BAK1 as bait. PUB13 and its close homologue PUB12 were shown to interact with BAK1 *in vivo* as well. Upon flg22 treatment, PUB12 and PUB13 also associate with FLS2, but in *bak1* mutants the interaction between PUB12/PUB13 and FLS2 was lost, indicating the need for BAK1 in this complex formation. Because BAK1 interacts with PUB12 and PUB13 without PAMP induction, it is likely that BAK1 and PUB12/PUB13 are always in a complex and are recruited to BAK1/FLS2 complex upon PAMP perception. PUB12 and PUB13 function as E3 ligases to ubiquitinate FLS2 *in vitro* and are required for degradation of FLS2. In the *pub12* and *pub13* mutant plants, FLS2 accumulates to higher levels. When treated with the flagellin peptide, both mutants produced significantly more ROS compared to wild-type. They also displayed enhanced callose deposition and were more resistant to bacterial

pathogens compared to wild-type. These data suggest that PUB12 and PUB13 are critical negative regulators of FLS2 mediated PTI (Lu et al., 2011).

The focus of my research is on the regulation of signal transduction downstream of PRRs. My thesis is specifically focused on MAPKs that are phosphorylated upon PAMP treatment and an E3 ligase that negatively regulates PTI.

Chapter 2 Identification of additional MAP kinases activated upon PAMP treatment²

2.1 Summary

Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase cascades play important roles in plant immunity. Upon pathogen associated molecular pattern (PAMP) treatment, MPK3, MPK6 and MPK4 are quickly activated by upstream MKKs through phosphorylation. Western blot analysis using α-phospho-p44/42-ERK antibody suggests that additional MPKs with similar size as MPK4 are also activated upon PAMP perception. To identify these MAP kinases, seven candidate MPKs with similar sizes as MPK4 were selected for further analysis. Transgenic plants expressing these MPKs with a ZZ-3xFLAG double tag of 17 kD were generated and analyzed by western blot. MPK1, MPK11 and MPK13 were found to be phosphorylated upon treatment with flg22. Our study revealed additional MAPKs being activated during PAMP-triggered immunity.

2.2 Introduction

Mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases are serine/threonine-specific protein kinases. They are involved in signal transduction during many biological processes through responding to diverse arrays of stimuli. MAP kinase cascades play critical roles in plant defense against pathogens (Meng & Zhang, 2013). During pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP)-triggered immunity (PTI), transmembrane receptors such as FLAGELLIN-SENSING 2 (FLS2) activate MAP kinase kinase kinases (MEKKs), which subsequently phosphorylate downstream MAP kinase kinases (MKKs) that in turn activate MAP kinases (MPKs).

² A version of this chapter has been published. Nitta Y, Ding P, Zhang Y. (2014) *Plant Signaling and Behavior*, in press.

In *Arabidopsis*, there are 20 MPKs, 10 MKKs and about 60 putative MEKKs (MAPK-Group, 2002). Two MAP kinase cascades have been shown to be activated downstream of PAMP receptors. One leads to activation of MKK4 and MKK5 and the downstream MPK3 and MPK6 (Asai et al., 2002). The MEKK functioning in this cascade is still unknown. Downstream of the MAP kinases, ethylene response factor 6 (ERF6) was identified as a substrate of MPK3/MPK6 and ERF104 was identified as a substrate of MPK6 (Bethke et al., 2009; Meng et al., 2013). Activation of these ERF proteins is critical for defense against fungal pathogens.

Another cascade downstream of PAMP receptors leads to activation of MPK4 through MEKK1 and MKK1/MKK2 (Gao et al., 2008; Ichimura et al., 2006; Nakagami, Soukupova, Schikora, Zarsky, & Hirt, 2006; Pitzschke, Djamei, Bitton, & Hirt, 2009; Qiu et al., 2008; Suarez-Rodriguez et al., 2007). This cascade negatively regulates defense responses mediated by the NB-LRR resistance protein SUMM2 (Z. Zhang et al., 2012). Inactivation of MPK4 by the bacterial effector protein HopAII leads to activation of SUMM2-mediated immune responses. The MEKK1-MKK1/MKK2-MPK4 kinase cascade was also found to positively regulate basal defense, as *summ2 mekk1* and *summ2 mkk1 mkk2* mutant plants exhibit enhanced susceptibility to pathogens (Z. Zhang et al., 2012).

The α -phospho-p44/42-ERK antibody (Cell Signaling Technology, Inc., #4370s) recognizes a conserved phosphorylation motif of MAP kinases. It has been widely used to analyze MAP kinase phosphorylation in animals and plants. In Arabidopsis, three immunoreactive bands are usually detected in a western blot analysis of samples treated with the elicitor flg22 (Bethke et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2013), a peptide derived from bacterial flagellin that is recognized by FLS2 (Gomez-Gomez & Boller, 2000). In the *mpk6* single

mutant, the band of the highest molecular weight is absent, indicating that phosphorylated MPK6 is typically detected as the top band. In *mpk3*, the middle band is absent, indicating that phosphorylated MPK3 is detected as the central band. The intensity of the lower band with the smallest molecular weight is reduced in *mpk4*, but is not affected in the knockout mutant of its close homolog MPK11 (Bethke et al., 2012). In the *mpk4 mpk11* double mutant, the lower band is still present, but its intensity is further reduced compared to that in *mpk4* (Bethke et al., 2012), suggesting that MPK11 is also phosphorylated after flg22 treatment and flg22-treatment activates additional MAP kinases that co-migrates with MPK4 during sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PAGE).

In this study, we sought to identify MAPKs that have similar sizes as MPK4 and exhibit phosphorylation upon flg22 treatment.

2.3 Materials and methods

2.3.1 Construction of plasmids

Constructs expressing MPK1, MPK2, MPK5 MPK7, MPK11, MPK12, and MPK13 with a FLAG-ZZ fusion tag driven by their native promoters were created for the MAP kinase activation assay. Individual MAP kinase fragments with restriction enzyme sites on each end were amplified using the primers shown in table 1. These fragments were digested and ligated into a pCambia 1305 modified vector with a FLAG-ZZ epitope tag.

Primer Name	Sequence
MPK1-BamHI-F	CGCGGATCCTTCGTGGTTGTCTAATCCAC
MPK1-XhoI-R	CCGCCGCTCGAGGAGCTCAGTGTTTAAGGTTG
MPK2-BamHI-F	CGCGGATCCCATGGGTTTAACTGTTCTTG
MPK2-PstI-R	AAAACTGCAGAAACTCAGAGACCTCATTGT
MPK5-KpnI-F	CGGGGGTACCCATGGATAATGTTGGAGATCHA
MPK5-XhoI-R	CCGCCGCTCGAGAATGCTCGGCAGAGGATTGA
MPK7-KpnI-F	CGGGGGTACCCATCCTTAGATGTTACCACT
MPK7-PstI-R	AAAACTGCAGGGCATTTGAGATTTCAGCTT
MPK11-BamHI-F	CGCGGATCCATGGGTTGATGTCTATCTTGA
MPK11-XhoI-R	CCGCCGCTCGAGAGGGTTAAACTTGACTGATTC
MPK12-KpnI-F	CGGGGGTACCTTGGAAATCCCTTTCGGATG
MPK12-BamHI-R	CGCGGATCCGTGGTCAGGATTGAATTTGA
MPK13-BamHI-F	CGCGGATCCTTGGCAATATGCAATTGGAGG
MPK13-XhoI-R	CCGCCGCTCGAGCATATTCTTGAAGTGTAAAGAC

Table 1 Primers used for the construction of plasmids

2.3.2 MAP kinase protein activation assay

Each epitope-tagged MAP kinase construct was transformed into Col-0 plants. T2 plants which expressed the MPK-FLAG-ZZ fusion protein, detected by the α -FLAG (sigma) antibody, were chosen for the MAP kinase activation assay. Twelve-day old transgenic plant seedlings grown on Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium, untreated or treated with 1µM flg22 for 10 minutes were collected. The tissue was frozen, grinded and finally boiled in sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) buffer. Western blot analysis was performed on the samples. Phosphorylated MAP kinases were detected using the α -p44/42-ERK antibody which is specific for recognizing phosphorylated MAP kinases.

2.3.3 Pathogen growth assay using *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*

Growth of *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* was measured in *mpk1*, *mpk11*, and *mpk13* using Col-0 as a control. Plants were grown under short-day conditions (12-h day/12-h night cycles). Leaves of four-week-old plants were inoculated with *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* ($OD_{600} = 0.002$). Two leaves per plant were infiltrated and one leaf disc from each infiltrated leaf was collected. The two leaf discs from the two infiltrated leaves from the same plant were combined to form one sample. These samples were grinded, diluted, and plated on LB plates to count the colonies and ultimately calculate the colony-forming units.

2.4 **Results and discussion**

MAP kinase candidates were chosen based on their protein sizes. Prior to phosphorylation, MPK4 is 42.9 kD. Seven MAP kinases whose protein sizes are between 42.2kD-43.2kD and that are expressed in leaf tissue based on the microarray database at The Arabidopsis Information Resource, specifically MPK1, MPK2, MPK5, MPK7, MPK11, MPK12 and MPK13, were selected for further studies.

To test whether these candidate MAP kinases are phosphorylated upon treatment with flg22, we analyzed the knockout mutants of the predicted MAP kinases by western blot using the α-phospho-p44/42-ERK antibody, and did not observe any consistent difference between the wild type and the single mutants. Most likely there is redundancy between the MAP kinases that masks the phenotype in single mutants. We then took an alternative approach to detect single MAP kinase phosphorylation upon flg22 treatment using transgenic plants expressing epitope tagged candidate MAP kinases. The epitope used is a FLAG-ZZ double tag. The FLAG tag is approximately 1kD in size, while the ZZ tag is approximately 16kD, which was synthesized from the B domain of Protein A (Forler et al., 2003). By fusing the MAP kinase to the double tag, the protein size is expected to be increased by approximately 17kD, allowing detection of the phosphorylated individual candidate MAP kinases apart from the endogenous proteins.

Constructs expressing MPK1, MPK2, MPK5, MPK7, MPK11, MPK12 and MPK13 with a C-terminal FLAG-ZZ tag under their own promoters were generated and transformed in Col-0 wild type plants. Transgenic lines expressing the fusion proteins were identified by Western blot using an α -FLAG antibody and used for subsequent phosphorylation analysis. As shown in figure 1, treatment with flg22 results in strong increases in phosphorylated MPK1-FLAG-ZZ, MPK11-FLAG-ZZ and MPK13-FLAG-ZZ detected by the α -phospho-p44/42-ERK antibody, suggesting that MPK1, MPK11 and MPK13 are phosphorylated upon flg22 induction.



Figure 1 Activation of MPK-FLAG-ZZ fusion proteins in transgenic plants by flg22. 12-day-old seedlings grown on $\frac{1}{2}$ MS medium were treated with or without 1µM flg22. Samples were taken 10 min after treatment. The MPK-FLAG-ZZ fusion proteins were detected using an α -FLAG antibody (Sigma). Phosphorylated MAP kinases were detected using the α -p44/42-ERK antibody.

To test whether the identified MAP kinases are important for PTI, the single mutants of *mpk1*, *mpk11* and *mpk13* were assayed for growth of the non-pathogenic bacteria *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* DC3000 *hrcC* (*P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*). As shown in figure 2, the MAPK single mutants showed no enhanced susceptibility to *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*, suggesting that loss of individual MAP kinases does not affect PAMP-triggered immunity against *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*.



Figure 2 Growth of *P. s. t.* **DC3000** *hrcC*⁻ **in Col-0**, *mpk1*, *mpk11* **and** *mpk13* **plants.** Leaves of five-week-old plants were inoculated with *P. s.t.* **DC3000** *hrcC*⁻ ($OD_{600} = 0.002$). Leaf discs in the inoculated area were collected to measure bacterial titers at days 0 and 3. Plants were grown under short-day conditions (12-h day/12-h night cycles). Error bars represent standard deviation scores from means of six samples.

In summary, we have identified additional MAP kinases that are activated in response to flg22 treatment. Lack of obvious defects in PTI against *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*⁻ suggests potential functional redundancy among these MAPKs. Analysis of combined mutants of the MAPKs may be required to elucidate their roles in plant defense against pathogens. Future identification of the target proteins of these MAPKs and their upstream MEKKs and MKKs are also critical in understanding how they function in plant immunity.

Chapter 3 Identification and analysis of an E3 ligase involved in the regulation of PAMP-triggered immunity

3.1 Summary

Protein ubiquitination is a common modification for the regulation of different pathways and events in eukaryotic organisms. E3 ubiquitin ligases are key factors in determining substrate specificity of ubiquitination, which most often leads to protein degradation. To identify E3 ligases involved in PTI, E3 ligases whose transcripts are upregulated upon PAMP treatment were selected as candidates. Transgenic lines overexpressing these candidate E3 ligases were assayed for deficiencies in PTI by quantification of reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced upon flg22 treatment and growth of the non-pathogenic bacteria, Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato (P.s.t.) DC3000 hrcC. Primary screens showed that overexpression of U6, one of the candidate E3 ligases, leads to severe reduction of flg22-induced ROS production and increased susceptibility to P.s.t. DC3000 hrcC. Further analysis showed that ROS production was also reduced in the U6 overexpression plants when induced by elf18 and chitin. These results suggest that U6 plays an important role in negatively regulating PTI. As overexpression of U6 causes reduction in the accumulation of the BIK1-HA fusion protein in transgenic plants, we hypothesize that U6 may target BIK1, a positive regulator downstream of a number of PAMP receptors, for ubiquitination and further degradation. Future in-depth analysis of the biochemical and genetic interactions between U6 and BIK1 will reveal their biological relationships.

3.2 Introduction

Ubiquitin is a small conserved protein that is able to covalently modify and often form chains on its target proteins. This modification is called ubiquitination and is often marking its target proteins for degradation. Ubiquitination is regulated by the ubiquitin-26S proteasome system which involves sequential activities of three enzymes, an ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1), an ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2), and an ubiquitin ligase (E3). E3s are key factors in determining substrate specificity (Ikeda & Dikic, 2008). They can be divided into three main groups depending on their conserved domains; HECT, RING-type/Ubox, and Cullin-based (Cheng & Li, 2012).

The ubiquitin-26S proteasome pathway is an extremely important and intricate regulatory mechanism in plants. In *Arabidopsis* over 5% of its proteome is predicted to be involved in this pathway (Smalle & Vierstra, 2004). In recent years, E3 ligases, PUB12, PUB13, PUB22, PUB23, and PUB24 have been identified to negatively regulate PTI (Lu et al., 2011; Trujillo et al., 2008), suggesting that E3 ligases may be important regulators in plant immunity. However, even with these discoveries there is still a great deal that is not known about the regulation of PTI. Therefore I hypothesized that there are additional E3 ligases that are involved in the regulation of PTI.

To explore this hypothesis, a reverse genetics screen was carried out on E3 ligases whose transcripts are up-regulated upon PAMP treatment. Transgenic plants overexpressing the candidate E3 ligases were used to screen for defects in PTI. Two PTI assays were used to screen the transgenic plants; a bacterial growth assay using *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* and PAMP-induced production of ROS assay. *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* is a non-pathogenic bacterium that is often used for testing PTI because it has a mutation in a component of the type three

secretion system (TTSS). With a defective TTSS, *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* is not able to secrete effectors into the plant, allowing us to see the effects of the bacterial PAMPs alone. ROS was also used for the screen because the accumulation of ROS upon PAMP treatment can also be used as a method to measure the magnitude of defense responses.

In this chapter, I will describe the identification of *U6* as a regulator of PTI. *U6* overexpression plants were more susceptible to *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* and produced less ROS when induced by PAMPs compared to the Col-0 wild-type control. *U6* transcript levels are also induced upon flg22 treatment and bacterial infection. This information suggests that U6 plays an important role in PTI. A possible target of U6 was also investigated to further reveal the function of U6.

1.3 Materials and methods

1.3.1 Screening candidate E3 ligases

23 E3 ligases were expressed in the Col-0 ecotype using a Cauliflower Mosaic Virus (CaMV) 35S promoter with an N-terminus HA tag. Seeds of the transgenic plants overexpressing the candidate E3 ligases were kindly provided to us by Dr. Xin Li's lab. These transgenic plants were specifically tested for altered growth of bacterial pathogen and production of ROS.

1.3.2 Pathogen growth assay using *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*

Growth of *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* was measured in all the overexpression lines of candidate E3 ligases using Col-0 as a control. Plants were grown under short-day conditions (12-h day/12-h night cycles). Leaves of four-week-old plants were inoculated with *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* (OD₆₀₀ = 0.002). Two leaves per plant were infiltrated and one leaf disc from each infiltrated leaf was collected. The two leaf discs from the two infiltrated leaves from the

same plant were combined to form one sample. These samples were grinded, diluted, and plated on LB plates to count the colonies and ultimately calculate the colony-forming units (CFU).

1.3.3 PAMP-induced ROS production assay

The flg22-induced accumulation of ROS was quantified in all transgenic lines overexpressing candidate E3 ligases using Col-0 as a control. Plants were grown under short-day conditions (12-h day/12-h night cycles). Leaves of four-week-old plants were cut into slices and placed in water in 96-well plates. The plates were incubated for approximately 12 hours at room temperature. After incubation, water was removed and 1 μ M flg22 elicitor solution with 20 μ M luminol and 10 μ g mL⁻¹ horseradish peroxidase was added to each sample. Luminescence was recorded using a 96 microplate luminometer (Infinity M200 Pro). elf18 (1 μ M) and chitin (200 μ g mL⁻¹) induced ROS production was quantified using the same method.

1.3.4 *U6* transcript expression analysis

For *U6* transcript expression analysis, RNA was extracted from twelve-day old Col-0 seedlings grown on Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium, untreated and treated with 1 μ M flg22 for 2 hours. The RNA was reverse-transcribed to obtain the complimentary DNA (cDNA) for real-time PCR analysis to determine the expression level of *U6* using the primers U6-RT-F and U6-RT-R, shown in table 2. RNA was also extracted from soil-grown four-week-old Col-0 plants inoculated with *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *maculicola* ES4326 (*P.s.m.* ES4326) (OD₆₀₀ = 0.001) at 0, 12 and 24 hour time points. The cDNA obtained from this extracted RNA was also used for real-time PCR analysis to determine the expression level of *U6* using the same primers.

For *U6* transcript expression analysis in Col-0, *U6* OX-1 and *U6* OX-7, RNA was extracted from twelve-day-old seedlings grown on Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium. The RNA was reverse-transcribed to obtain the cDNA. Real-time PCR analysis was used to determine the expression level of *U6* using the primers U6-RT-F and U6-RT-R, shown in table 2.

Table 2 Primers used for real-time PCR of U6

Primer Name	Sequence
U6-RT-F	AGCAGCAATACTAGCCGGAG
U6-RT-R	AGAGCCTTTGATTAAACTCC

1.3.5 Construction of plasmids

Constructs carrying the dominant-negative forms of *U*6 were produced to create overexpression of *U*6 dominant-negative transgenic plants. Site-directed mutagenesis was performed by overlapping PCR of the region using 35S-HA-U6 in a modified pGreen vector (provided by Dr. Xin Li's lab) that was originally used to create the overexpression transgenic plants of *U*6 as template. Two fragments including the mutated nucleotide were amplified by PCR using pGreenST1-F/U6-HtoY-R and U6-HtoY-F/pGreenST1-R (table 3). Then the two overlapping fragments were mixed together and used as template to amplify the full length gene using the two outside primers (pGreenST1-F and pGreenST1-R). The final PCR product was then cloned into pGST1 with a CaMV 35S promoter and N-terminus HA tag (35S-HA-U6-H110Y). Another dominant negative form of *U*6 was created by the same methodology except using two fragments amplified by the primers pGreenST1-F/U6-CtoS-R and U6-CtoS-F/pGreenST1-R (table 3) instead (35S-HA-U6-C116S).

BIK1 driven by the CaMV 35S promoter with a FLAG-ZZ fusion tag was also created for interaction analysis. A BIK1 fragment with KpnI and BamHI restriction enzyme sites was amplified using the primers, BIK1-KpnI-F and BIK1-BamHI-R shown in table 3. This fragment was digested and ligated into a pCambia1305 modified vector with a FLAG-ZZ epitope tag.

Primer Name	Sequence
pGreenST1-F	GAAGACGTTCCAACCACGTC
pGreenST1-R	GACGCCTATGATCGCATGAT
U6-HtoY-F	CTGACGAATTGTCGATATATATTTCATCGG
U6-HtoY-R	CCGATGAAATATATATCGACAATTCGTCAG
U6-CtoS-F	ATTTCATCGGGGATCTTTGGACCGTTGGAT
U6-CtoS-R	ATCCAACGGTCCAAAGATCCCCGATGAAAT
BIK1-KpnI-F	TAGAGTCGACGGTACCATGGGTTCTTGCTTCAGTTC
BIK1-BamHI-R	CGCGGATCCCACAAGGTGCCTGCCAAAAG

Table 3 Primers used for the construction of plasmids

1.3.6 BIK1 protein expression assay

35S-HA-U6 (provided by Dr. Xin Li's lab) and the dominant-negative constructs, 35S-HA-U6-H110Y and 35S-HA-U6-C116S were transformed into BIK1-HA transgenic plants (J. Zhang et al., 2010). Leaves from four-week-old plants were collected from the T2 transgenic plants. The tissue was frozen, grinded and finally boiled in sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) buffer. Western blot analysis was performed on the samples using α -HA antibody.

1.3.7 Co-immunoprecipitation in tobacco

To test the interaction of BIK1 and U6, *Agrobacterium* carrying 35S-BIK1-FLAG-ZZ and 35S-HA-U6-C116S constructs were co-inoculated into tobacco. The transiently transformed tissue was collected after 48 hours and protein was extracted. The extracted protein was immunoprecipitated with an agarose-conjugated α -FLAG antibody (Sigma).

Western blot analysis was performed on the input and elution with the α -FLAG (Sigma) and α -HA antibody (Roche).

1.4 Results and discussion

Based on The Arabidopsis Information Resource (TAIR) microarray database, 23 E3 ligases whose transcripts are up-regulated upon PAMP treatment were chosen to test for their involvement in PTI (Table 4). Six independent transgenic lines per construct were used to screen for increased growth of *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*⁻ and deficiencies in the production of ROS. Preliminary results from the screen suggest that overexpressing U6, a RING-type/U-box E3 ligase, lead to deficiencies in PTI (Table 4).

U6 was initially chosen as a candidate because its transcript levels were induced upon PAMP treatments. To confirm this, flg22 was used to activate PTI. As shown in figure 3A, a significant increase in *U6* transcription level was detected two hours after flg22 treatment. To test whether *U6* transcript is also up-regulated by bacterial infection, *P.s.m.* ES4326 was inoculated into Col-0 and transcript levels were analyzed at 0 hours, 12 hours and 24 hours. As shown in figure 3B, 24 hours after bacterial infection, *U6* transcript was highly induced. This indicates that both PAMP treatment and bacterial infection lead to up-regulation of *U6* expression.

Code Name	P.s.t. DC3000 hrcC growth	ROS production
U1	No difference	No difference
U4	No difference	No difference
U6	++	
U8	No difference	No difference
U9	No difference	No difference
U10	No difference	No difference
U11	No difference	-
U13	No difference	-
U15	No difference	No difference
U17	No difference	No difference
U18	No difference	No difference
U19	No difference	-
U20	+	No difference
U21	No difference	No difference
U26	+	No difference
U28	+	No difference
U30	No difference	No difference
U33	+	No difference
U34	No difference	No difference
U35	No difference	No difference
U36	+	No difference
U37	No difference	No difference
U38	+	No difference

Table 4 Scored results of the growth of *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*⁻ and production of ROS in the overexpression lines of candidate E3 ligases

"+" is less than two times, "++" is more than two times increase in pathogen growth compared to Col-0 "-" is less than two times, "--" is more than two times decrease in production of ROS compared to Col-0



Figure 3 Induction of U6 expression by flg22 and P.s.m. ES4326.

(A) Two-week old Col-0 seedlings were treated with flg22 (1 μ M). Samples were collected at 0 hours and 2 hours. *U6* transcript levels were analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR. (B) Four-week old Col-0 plants were inoculated with *P.s.m.* ES4326 (OD₆₀₀ = 0.001). Samples were collected at 0 hours, 12 hours, and 24 hours. *U6* transcript levels were analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR.

Actin 1 was used as the control for both (A) and (B).

The results of the screen were confirmed by quantifying the growth of *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* and production of ROS in two independent lines overexpressing *U6*. The non-pathogenic bacteria, *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* had significantly higher growth in *U6* OX-1 and *U6* OX-7 (figure 4). As shown in figure 5A, the flg22-induced production of ROS was greatly reduced in the same transgenc lines. To determine whether or not the effect seen on

the production of ROS was flg22/FLS2 specific, the same assay was carried out using elf18 and chitin as elicitors. Reduced production of ROS was also observed when elf18 or chitin was used as the inducer (figure 5B & 5C). These data suggest that reduction of ROS accumulation in U6 overexpression lines was not specific to the elicitors, but rather a defect in the general PAMP response.



Figure 4 Growth of *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* in Col-0 and two independent lines overexpressing U6.

Leaves of four-week old plants were inoculated with *P.s.t.* DC3000 hrcC (OD₆₀₀ = 0.002). Leaf discs in the inoculated area were collected to measure bacterial titers at days 0 and 3. Plants were grown under short-day conditions (12-h day/12-h night cycles). Error bars represent standard deviation scores from means of six samples.



Figure 5 Production of PAMP-induced ROS in Col-0 and two independent lines overexpressing U6.

Oxidative burst triggered by flg22 (A), elf18 (B), or chitin (C). Leaf slices of four-week-old plants were treated with 1 μ M flg22, 1 μ M elf18, or 200 μ gmL⁻¹ chitin, and ROS was subsequently measured. Error bars represent standard deviation scores from means of eight samples.

To analyze the degree of overexpression of *U*6, real-time PCR was carried out to determine the transcript levels of *U*6 in Col-0, *U*6 OX-1 and *U*6 OX-7. As shown in figure 6, *U*6 transcript levels were much higher in the two transgenic lines overexpressing *U*6. The expression of *U*6 in *U*6 OX-7 is higher than in *U*6 OX-1, which is consistent with higher *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*⁻ growth and less PAMP-induced production of ROS in *U*6 OX-7 compared to *U*6 OX-1.



Figure 6 *U6* **expression in Col-0,** *U6* **OX-1 and** *U6* **OX-7.** *U6* transcript levels in two-week-old seedlings were analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR. *Actin 1* was used as the control.

The up-regulation of *U6* transcript following flg22 and *P.s.m.* ES4326 treatment, increase in growth of the non-pathogenic *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* and the redued production of PAMP-induced ROS in the *U6* overexpression transgenic plants suggest that U6 is a key negative regulator of early PAMP responses. Because U6 is an E3 ligase, identifying the protein that U6 targets became the focus of my study.

Based on evidence from previous studies I chose BIK1 as a potential target for U6. BIK1 was chosen as a candidate target for U6 because studies showed that BIK1 is a common regulator downstream of PAMP receptors (Lu et al., 2010; J. Zhang et al., 2010). It was also shown to activate RbohD, an NADPH oxidase involved in ROS production (Kadota et al., 2014; L. Li et al., 2014). Furthermore, the *bik1* single mutant shows enhanced susceptibility to *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* and also produces less ROS upon PAMP treatment (J. Zhang et al., 2010). The similarity between the *bik1* phenotypes and the U6 overexpression phenotypes suggests that BIK1 could be a target for ubiquitination by U6.

To test the hypothesis that BIK1 is a target of U6, the 35S-HA-U6 construct (provided by Dr. Xin Li's lab) was transformed into a transgenic line expressing the BIK1-HA fusion protein driven by its native promoter (J. Zhang et al., 2010). 24 independent BIK1-HA and HA-U6 double transgenic plants were planted in the T2 generation to identify single insertion lines. Four lines carrying a single copy of the transgene (T2#7, T2#15, T2#16 and T2#19) were tested for BIK1-HA accumulation using western blot analysis. As shown in figure 7, in all four independent T2 lines overexpressing *U*6, the expression of BIK1-HA was drastically reduced compared to the BIK1-HA parent control. These results provide evidence that overexpressing *U*6 has a negative effect on the protein level of BIK1-HA, which supports the hypothesis that BIK1 may be a target of U6.



Figure 7 BIK1-HA protein levels in transgenic plants overexpressing U6.

Protein was extracted from leaves of four-week-old BIK1-HA transgenic plants and four independent T2 lines of the BIK1-HA and 35S-HA-U6 double transgenic plant. BIK1-HA and U6-HA expression levels were detected via western blot analysis using α -HA antibody. The ponceau staining serves as the loading control.

Next I tested whether the loss of function of U6 affects the accumulation of BIK1. Because U6 has two homologues that may function redundantly with U6, I created *U6* dominant-negative constructs by mutating an amino acid in the zinc binding motif of U6. U6 is in the RING/U-box superfamily and carries a RING finger domain. When essential amino acids in this domain are mutated, the resulting protein has a dominant-negative effect on the endogenous protein, because the mutant form of U6 loses its ability to bind the E2 conjugating enzyme while maintaining its ability to bind to the substrate, thus preventing the substrate from being ubiquitinated (González-Lamothe et al., 2006). The RING finger domain has a consensus sequence where the zinc binds. If one of these amino acids is mutated to destroy the zinc binding structure, it will cause a dominant-negative effect. U6 has a C3H2C3 type RING domain. Figure 8 shows the amino acid sequence of U6 with the C3H2C3 highlighted. Two dominant-negative constructs were created; one by mutating the H to Y and another by mutating the C to S, as highlighted in red in figure 8. The *U6* dominant-negative constructs were subsequently transformed into the BIK1-HA transgenic plants. When the expression levels of BIK1-HA were analyzed in the BIK1-HA and U6 dominant-negative double transgenic plants, BIK1-HA levels showed a significant increase (Figure 9). As the dominant-negative form of U6 affects the accumulation of BIK1-HA in an opposite manner compared to *U6* overexpression, these results further support that U6 regulates the accumulation of BIK1.

1 MGFPVGYSEL LLPKIFFYLL SFLGLIRKLI STMFKIIGLP DFLEPEPVST 51 SWPDPPPTLT KPDSAAILAG EMLPVVRFSD INRPESECCA VCLYDFENDD 101 EIRRLTNCR IFHRG LDRW MMGYNQMTCP LCRTQFIPDH LQLEFNQRLW 151 SQSSAVSSQL LDESSS

Figure 8 Amino acid sequence of U6.

The highlighted amino acids are the conserved residues for the C3H2C3 RING motifs. The two amino acids highlighted in red are the amino acids mutated to make the dominant negative forms of U6. In one form of the dominant negative U6, the H was mutated to a Y and in the other the C to an S.



Figure 9 BIK1-HA protein expression in transgenic plants overexpressing dominant negative forms of *U*6.

Protein was extracted from two-week-old seedlings in BIK1-HA transgenic plants and five independent T2 lines overexpressing dominant negative *U6* in the BIK1-HA transgenic background. H-Y#1, H-Y#5 and H-Y#8 are lines expressing *U6* with H₁₁₀ mutated to Y. C-S#3 and C-S#6 are lines expressing *U6* with C₁₁₆ mutated to S. BIK1-HA expression levels were detected via western blot analysis using α -HA antibody. The ponceau staining serves as the loading control.

Analysis of transgenic plants overexpressing U6 and dominant negative forms of U6indicate that U6 affects the protein level of BIK1-HA. To test if U6 and BIK1 interact with each other, co-immunoprecipitation experiments were conducted in tobacco. The 35S-BIK1-FLAG-ZZ and the dominant-negative form of U6 (35S-HA-U6-C116S) were transiently expressed in tobacco together. The dominant-negative form of the U6 construct was chosen for this assay to prevent potential degradation of BIK1 by U6. Tobacco leaves transfected with 35S-HA-U6-C116S alone (control) or both 35S-BIK1-FLAG-ZZ and 35S-HA-U6-C116S were collected for protein extraction. The protein extracts were then immunoprecipitated with agarose-conjugated α-FLAG antibody coan and

immunoprecipitation of HA-U6-C116S was then analyzed by western blot using α -HA antibody. Unfortunately, my results showed that the dominant-negative form of U6 protein was enriched greatly in both the negative control and the experimental samples. This suggests that 35S-HA-U6-C116S is able to bind to the α -FLAG antibody or the agarose beads alone. To overcome this problem, HA-U6-C116S will be immunoprecipitated using the agarose-conjugated α -HA antibody. Co-immunoprecipitation of BIK1-FLAG-ZZ will be analyzed by the α -FLAG antibody in future experiments.

Through the screen of E3 ligases that are up-regulated upon PAMP treatment, I found that overexpression of *U6* results in severe deficiencies in PTI. Transgenic plants overexpressing *U6* are more susceptible to *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC* and produce less ROS upon PAMP treatment. *U6* transcript was also induced upon flg22 and *P.s.m.* ES4326 treatment. These results suggest an important role of U6 in PTI. As overexpression of *U6* leads to the reduced accumulation of BIK1 and overexpression of dominant-negative forms of *U6* results in increased levels of BIK1 protein, BIK1 may be a target protein of U6. Therefore, the results presented here suggest that U6 negatively regulates PTI by participating in the degradation of BIK1, a key positive regulator downstream of multiple PAMP receptors in PTI. In the preliminary co-immunoprecipitation experiments in tobacco, I could not detect direct interaction of BIK1-FLAG-ZZ and the dominant-negative form of U6 because of technical problems. Further experimentations must be carried out to test whether BIK1 interacts with U6.

Chapter 4 Future directions and conclusions

Microbial pathogens are responsible for losses of crop and forestry industries annually. Current control methods for most pathogens still rely heavily on chemical pesticides, which are environmentally unfriendly and often lead to even more virulent strains of pesticide-resistant pathogens. Increasing efforts seek to discover alternative control methods that are long-lasting and environmentally safe. Better understanding of plant immunity may lead to development of new strategies to engineer plants with enhanced pathogen resistance. My work focuses on two important aspects of the first layer of plant immunity, signaling and regulation of PTI.

By western blot analysis of transgenic plants expressing FLAG-ZZ-tagged candidate MAP kinases, I found that MPK1, MPK11 and MPK13 are phosphorylated upon PAMP treatment. Combined with previous studies, a total of six MAP kinases including MPK1, MPK3, MPK4, MPK6, MPK11 and MPK13 are now known to be activated upon PAMP treatment. When the *mpk1*, *mpk11*, and *mpk13* single mutants were analyzed, I was unable to detect a difference in bacterial growth compared to Col-0. This suggests that loss of individual MAP kinases does not affect PTI and there may be functional redundancy among the MAP kinases.

Future directions for this project are to make combined MAP kinase mutants and test them for phenotypes in PTI deficiency. By studying different combinations of double and possibly triple mutants, it may be possible to identify which MAP kinases function redundantly in PTI.

It is also important to find the upstream components of the identified MAP kinase. Studies using yeast two-hybrid screen (Lee, Huh, Bhargava, & Ellis, 2008) and protein microarray (Popescu et al., 2009) have previously been carried out to study interactions between all MKKs and MAP kinases in *Arabidopsis*. MKK3 was shown to interact with MPK1 in both studies (Lee et al., 2008; Popescu et al., 2009). MKK1, MKK2 and MKK6 interacts with MPK11, whereas MKK2 and MKK6 interact with MPK13 according to data from the yeast-two-hybrid screen (Lee et al., 2008). MKK1 and MKK2 have already been shown to function upstream of MPK4 (Gao et al., 2008; Qiu et al., 2008). MPK11 and MPK13 are in the same clade as MPK4 (MAPK-Group, 2002), therefore, they may be affected by the same upstream components as MPK4. The MPK1-FLAG-ZZ, MPK11-FLAG-ZZ and MPK13-FLAG-ZZ constructs could be transformed into the knock-out mutants of the possible upstream components (*mkk3*, *mkk1*, *mkk2* or *mkk6*) to test if activation of the MAP kinase fusion proteins is affected by the absence of the MKKs.

It is also important to identify downstream targets of the identified MAP kinases. The yeast two-hybrid screen can be carried out to identify candidate target proteins that interact with MPK1, MPK11 and MPK13. These candidates can then be tested using an *in vitro* phosphorylation assay to determine whether the candidate can be directly phosphorylated by MPK1, MPK11 or MPK13.

Through a reverse genetics screen of E3 ligases up-regulated upon PAMP treatment, U6 was identified as a negative regulator of PTI. Plants overexpressing *U6* produced less ROS upon PAMP treatment and were more susceptible to the non-pathogenic bacteria, *P.s.t.* DC3000 *hrcC*. When *U6* was overexpressed in BIK1-HA transgenic plants, the accumulation of BIK1-HA was compromised, suggesting that BIK1 may be a potential target for U6. However, due to technical problems, analysis of the direct interaction of BIK1 and U6 were not successful in tobacco.

The future direction for this project is to test the direct interaction of BIK1 and U6 in *Arabidopsis*. In a separate study, I found that U6 can bind IgG conjugated agarose beads, which is usually used to purify proteins with the ZZ epitope tag. Therefore, BIK1-HA transgenic plants expressing dominant-negative forms of *U6* (also carrying an HA tag) can be used to preform co-immunoprecipitation. Protein extracts from the double transgenic plants can be immunoprecipitated with the IgG beads and co-immunoprecipitation of BIK1-HA can then be analyzed by western blot using α -HA antibody to test *in vivo* interaction between BIK1 and U6.

To confirm the role of U6 in negative regulation of BIK1 accumulation, it is critical to study the loss-of-function mutant phenotypes of U6 and its close homologues. T-DNA insertion lines of U6 and its two homologues can be tested for resistance to the bacterial pathogen (*P.s.t.* DC3000) and production of ROS. Accumulation of BIK1 can also be tested to determine whether there is increased accumulation of BIK1 as seen in the transgenic lines overexpressing the dominant-negative form of U6.

This study on U6 provided strong evidence that ubiquitination plays an important role in the regulation of PTI. I showed that the protein level of BIK1, one critical signaling component downstream of PAMP receptors is regulated by the E3 ligase, U6. The identification of U6 also suggests that at least some of the E3 ligases whose transcripts are up-regulated upon PAMP treatment may be important in the regulation of PTI. Therefore, it may be beneficial to test additional E3 ligases that are induced by PAMP treatment or other biotic stresses such as pathogen infection for roles in PTI regulation.

Overall, my work led to the discovery of MAP kinases activated upon PAMP treatment and the identification of the E3 ligase, U6, which is involved in the negative

regulation of PTI. Since overexpression of the dominant-negative form of *U6* in *Arabidopsis* leads to increased accumulation of BIK1, it would be interesting to test these transgenic lines for pathogen resistance. If they show enhanced resistance to pathogens, U6 may be useful in engineering resistant crops. Dominant-negative forms of U6 homologues in crop plants can be created to generate transgenic plants with enhanced resistance to pathogen. Although more careful studies need to be carried out before the application of these findings, understanding the regulation of PTI is an important first step to achieve this goal.

References

- Asai, T., Tena, G., Plotnikova, J., Willmann, M. R., Chiu, W. L., Gomez-Gomez, L., . . . Sheen, J. (2002). MAP kinase signalling cascade in Arabidopsis innate immunity. *Nature*, 415(6875), 977-983.
- Bethke, G., Pecher, P., Eschen-Lippold, L., Tsuda, K., Katagiri, F., Glazebrook, J., . . . Lee, J. (2012). Activation of the Arabidopsis thaliana mitogen-activated protein kinase MPK11 by the flagellin-derived elicitor peptide, flg22. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*, 25(4), 471-480. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-11-11-0281
- Bethke, G., Unthan, T., Uhrig, J. F., Poschl, Y., Gust, A. A., Scheel, D., & Lee, J. (2009). Flg22 regulates the release of an ethylene response factor substrate from MAP kinase 6 in Arabidopsis thaliana via ethylene signaling. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(19), 8067-8072. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810206106
- Chen, C. W., Panzeri, D., Yeh, Y. H., Kadota, Y., Huang, P. Y., Tao, C. N., ... Zimmerli, L. (2014). The Arabidopsis malectin-like leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinase IOS1 associates with the pattern recognition receptors FLS2 and EFR and is critical for priming of pattern-triggered immunity. *Plant Cell*, 26(7), 3201-3219. doi: 10.1105/tpc.114.125682
- Cheng, Y. T., & Li, X. (2012). Ubiquitination in NB-LRR-mediated immunity. *Curr Opin Plant Biol, 15*(4), 392-399. doi: 10.1016/j.pbi.2012.03.014
- Chinchilla, D., Bauer, Z., Regenass, M., Boller, T., & Felix, G. (2006). The Arabidopsis receptor kinase FLS2 binds flg22 and determines the specificity of flagellin perception. *Plant Cell*, *18*(2), 465-476. doi: 10.1105/tpc.105.036574
- Chinchilla, D., Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Kemmerling, B., Nurnberger, T., Jones, J. D., ... Boller, T. (2007). A flagellin-induced complex of the receptor FLS2 and BAK1 initiates plant defence. *Nature*, 448(7152), 497-500.
- de Torres, M., Mansfield, J. W., Grabov, N., Brown, I. R., Ammouneh, H., Tsiamis, G., . . . Boch, J. (2006). Pseudomonas syringae effector AvrPtoB suppresses basal defence in Arabidopsis. *Plant J*, 47(3), 368-382. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2006.02798.x
- Dunning, F. M., Sun, W., Jansen, K. L., Helft, L., & Bent, A. F. (2007). Identification and mutational analysis of Arabidopsis FLS2 leucine-rich repeat domain residues that contribute to flagellin perception. *Plant Cell*, 19(10), 3297-3313. doi: 10.1105/tpc.106.048801
- Felix, G., & Boller, T. (2003). Molecular sensing of bacteria in plants. The highly conserved RNA-binding motif RNP-1 of bacterial cold shock proteins is recognized as an elicitor signal in tobacco. J Biol Chem, 278(8), 6201-6208. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209880200
- Felix, G., Duran, J. D., Volko, S., & Boller, T. (1999). Plants have a sensitive perception system for the most conserved domain of bacterial flagellin. *Plant J*, *18*(3), 265-276.
- Forler, D., Kocher, T., Rode, M., Gentzel, M., Izaurralde, E., & Wilm, M. (2003). An efficient protein complex purification method for functional proteomics in higher eukaryotes. *Nat Biotechnol*, 21(1), 89-92. doi: 10.1038/nbt773
- Gao, M., Liu, J., Bi, D., Zhang, Z., Cheng, F., Chen, S., & Zhang, Y. (2008). MEKK1, MKK1/MKK2 and MPK4 function together in a mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade to regulate innate immunity in plants. *Cell Res, 18*(12), 1190-1198. doi: 10.1038/cr.2008.300

- Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Hann, D. R., Ntoukakis, V., Petutschnig, E., Lipka, V., & Rathjen, J. P. (2009). AvrPtoB targets the LysM receptor kinase CERK1 to promote bacterial virulence on plants. Curr Biol, 19(5), 423-429.
- Gomez-Gomez, L., & Boller, T. (2000). FLS2: an LRR receptor-like kinase involved in the perception of the bacterial elicitor flagellin in Arabidopsis. Mol Cell, 5(6), 1003-1011.
- González-Lamothe, R., Tsitsigiannis, D. I., Ludwig, A. A., Panicot, M., Shirasu, K., & Jones, J. D. (2006). The U-box protein CMPG1 is required for efficient activation of defense mechanisms triggered by multiple resistance genes in tobacco and tomato. Plant Cell, 18(4), 1067-1083. doi: 10.1105/tpc.106.040998
- Gómez-Gómez, L., Bauer, Z., & Boller, T. (2001). Both the extracellular leucine-rich repeat domain and the kinase activity of FSL2 are required for flagellin binding and signaling in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell, 13(5), 1155-1163.
- Gómez-Gómez, L., Felix, G., & Boller, T. (1999). A single locus determines sensitivity to bacterial flagellin in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J, 18(3), 277-284.
- Hamm, H. E. (1998). The many faces of G protein signaling. J Biol Chem, 273(2), 669-672.
- Heese, A., Hann, D. R., Gimenez-Ibanez, S., Jones, A. M., He, K., Li, J., . . . Rathjen, J. P. (2007). The receptor-like kinase SERK3/BAK1 is a central regulator of innate immunity in plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104(29), 12217-12222.
- Ichimura, K., Casais, C., Peck, S. C., Shinozaki, K., & Shirasu, K. (2006). MEKK1 is required for MPK4 activation and regulates tissue-specific and temperaturedependent cell death in Arabidopsis. J Biol Chem, 281(48), 36969-36976. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M605319200
- Ikeda, F., & Dikic, I. (2008). Atypical ubiquitin chains: new molecular signals. 'Protein Modifications: Beyond the Usual Suspects' review series. EMBO Rep, 9(6), 536-542. doi: 10.1038/embor.2008.93
- Jones, J. D., & Dangl, J. L. (2006). The plant immune system. Nature, 444(7117), 323-329.
- Kadota, Y., Sklenar, J., Derbyshire, P., Stransfeld, L., Asai, S., Ntoukakis, V., ... Zipfel, C. (2014). Direct Regulation of the NADPH Oxidase RBOHD by the PRR-Associated Kinase BIK1 during Plant Immunity. *Mol Cell*, 54(1), 43-55. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2014.02.021
- Kaku, H., Nishizawa, Y., Ishii-Minami, N., Akimoto-Tomiyama, C., Dohmae, N., Takio, K., . . . Shibuya, N. (2006). Plant cells recognize chitin fragments for defense signaling through a plasma membrane receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 103(29), 11086-11091. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508882103
- Klopffleisch, K., Phan, N., Augustin, K., Bayne, R. S., Booker, K. S., Botella, J. R., . . . Jones, A. M. (2012). Arabidopsis G-protein interactome reveals connections to cell wall carbohydrates and morphogenesis. Mol Syst Biol, 7, 532. doi: msb201166 [pii]
- 10.1038/msb.2011.66
- Kong, Q., Qu, N., Gao, M., Zhang, Z., Ding, X., Yang, F., . . . Zhang, Y. (2012). The MEKK1-MKK1/MKK2-MPK4 kinase cascade negatively regulates immunity mediated by a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell, 24(5), 2225-2236. doi: 10.1105/tpc.112.097253
- Kunze, G., Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Niehaus, K., Boller, T., & Felix, G. (2004). The N terminus of bacterial elongation factor Tu elicits innate immunity in Arabidopsis plants. Plant Cell, 16(12), 3496-3507. doi: 10.1105/tpc.104.026765

- Lee, J. S., Huh, K. W., Bhargava, A., & Ellis, B. E. (2008). Comprehensive analysis of protein-protein interactions between Arabidopsis MAPKs and MAPK kinases helps define potential MAPK signalling modules. *Plant Signal Behav*, 3(12), 1037-1041.
- Li, L., Li, M., Yu, L., Zhou, Z., Liang, X., Liu, Z., . . . Zhou, J. M. (2014). The FLS2associated kinase BIK1 directly phosphorylates the NADPH oxidase RbohD to control plant immunity. *Cell Host Microbe*, *15*(3), 329-338. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.02.009
- Li, X., Lin, H., Zhang, W., Zou, Y., Zhang, J., Tang, X., & Zhou, J. M. (2005). Flagellin induces innate immunity in nonhost interactions that is suppressed by Pseudomonas syringae effectors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(36), 12990-12995. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502425102
- Liu, J., Ding, P., Sun, T., Nitta, Y., Dong, O., Huang, X., . . . Zhang, Y. (2013). Heterotrimeric G proteins serve as a converging point in plant defense signaling activated by multiple receptor-like kinases. *Plant Physiol*, 161(4), 2146-2158. doi: pp.112.212431 [pii]
- 10.1104/pp.112.212431
- Lu, D., Lin, W., Gao, X., Wu, S., Cheng, C., Avila, J., . . . Shan, L. (2011). Direct ubiquitination of pattern recognition receptor FLS2 attenuates plant innate immunity. *Science*, 332(6036), 1439-1442. doi: 10.1126/science.1204903
- Lu, D., Wu, S., Gao, X., Zhang, Y., Shan, L., & He, P. (2010). A receptor-like cytoplasmic kinase, BIK1, associates with a flagellin receptor complex to initiate plant innate immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 107(1), 496-501. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0909705107
- MAPK-Group. (2002). Mitogen-activated protein kinase cascades in plants: a new nomenclature. *Trends Plant Sci.*, 7(7), 301-308.
- Melotto, M., Underwood, W., Koczan, J., Nomura, K., & He, S. Y. (2006). Plant stomata function in innate immunity against bacterial invasion. *Cell*, 126(5), 969-980. doi: S0092-8674(06)01015-4 [pii] 10.1016/j.cell.2006.06.054
- Meng, X., Xu, J., He, Y., Yang, K. Y., Mordorski, B., Liu, Y., & Zhang, S. (2013). Phosphorylation of an ERF transcription factor by Arabidopsis MPK3/MPK6 regulates plant defense gene induction and fungal resistance. *Plant Cell*, 25(3), 1126-1142. doi: 10.1105/tpc.112.109074
- Meng, X., & Zhang, S. (2013). MAPK cascades in plant disease resistance signaling. *Annu Rev Phytopathol*, *51*, 245-266. doi: 10.1146/annurev-phyto-082712-102314
- Miya, A., Albert, P., Shinya, T., Desaki, Y., Ichimura, K., Shirasu, K., . . . Shibuya, N. (2007). CERK1, a LysM receptor kinase, is essential for chitin elicitor signaling in Arabidopsis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *104*(49), 19613-19618.
- Nakagami, H., Soukupova, H., Schikora, A., Zarsky, V., & Hirt, H. (2006). A Mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase mediates reactive oxygen species homeostasis in Arabidopsis. *J Biol Chem*, 281(50), 38697-38704.
- Nam, K. H., & Li, J. (2002). BRI1/BAK1, a receptor kinase pair mediating brassinosteroid signaling. *Cell*, *110*(2), 203-212.
- Nishimura, M. T., Stein, M., Hou, B. H., Vogel, J. P., Edwards, H., & Somerville, S. C. (2003). Loss of a callose synthase results in salicylic acid-dependent disease resistance. *Science*, 301(5635), 969-972. doi: 10.1126/science.1086716

- Oldham, W. M., & Hamm, H. E. (2008). Heterotrimeric G protein activation by G-proteincoupled receptors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9(1), 60-71. doi: 10.1038/nrm2299
- Pitzschke, A., Djamei, A., Bitton, F., & Hirt, H. (2009). A major role of the MEKK1-MKK1/2-MPK4 pathway in ROS signalling. *Mol Plant*, 2(1), 120-137.
- Popescu, S. C., Popescu, G. V., Bachan, S., Zhang, Z., Gerstein, M., Snyder, M., & Dinesh-Kumar, S. P. (2009). MAPK target networks in Arabidopsis thaliana revealed using functional protein microarrays. *Genes Dev*, 23(1), 80-92. doi: 10.1101/gad.1740009
- Qiu, J. L., Zhou, L., Yun, B. W., Nielsen, H. B., Fiil, B. K., Petersen, K., . . . Morris, P. C. (2008). Arabidopsis mitogen-activated protein kinase kinases MKK1 and MKK2 have overlapping functions in defense signaling mediated by MEKK1, MPK4, and MKS1. *Plant Physiol*, 148(1), 212-222. doi: pp.108.120006 [pii] 10.1104/pp.108.120006
- Roux, M., Schwessinger, B., Albrecht, C., Chinchilla, D., Jones, A., Holton, N., ... Zipfel, C. (2011). The Arabidopsis leucine-rich repeat receptor-like kinases BAK1/SERK3 and BKK1/SERK4 are required for innate immunity to hemibiotrophic and biotrophic pathogens. *Plant Cell*, 23(6), 2440-2455. doi: tpc.111.084301 [pii] 10.1105/tpc.111.084301
- Schulze, B., Mentzel, T., Jehle, A. K., Mueller, K., Beeler, S., Boller, T., . . . Chinchilla, D. (2010). Rapid heteromerization and phosphorylation of ligand-activated plant transmembrane receptors and their associated kinase BAK1. *J Biol Chem*, 285(13), 9444-9451. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.096842
- Shibuya, N., & Minami, E. (2001). Oligosaccharide signalling for defence responses in plant. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 59, 10. doi: doi:10.1006/pmpp.2001.0364
- Shinya, T., Yamaguchi, K., Desaki, Y., Yamada, K., Narisawa, T., Kobayashi, Y., . . . Shibuya, N. (2014). Selective regulation of the chitin-induced defense response by the Arabidopsis receptor-like cytoplasmic kinase PBL27. *Plant J*, 79(1), 56-66. doi: 10.1111/tpj.12535
- Smalle, J., & Vierstra, R. D. (2004). The ubiquitin 26S proteasome proteolytic pathway. *Annu Rev Plant Biol*, 55, 555-590. doi: 10.1146/annurev.arplant.55.031903.141801
- Suarez-Rodriguez, M. C., Adams-Phillips, L., Liu, Y., Wang, H., Su, S. H., Jester, P. J., . . . Krysan, P. J. (2007). MEKK1 is required for flg22-induced MPK4 activation in Arabidopsis plants. *Plant Physiol*, 143(2), 661-669.
- Torres, M. A., Jones, J. D., & Dangl, J. L. (2006). Reactive oxygen species signaling in response to pathogens. *Plant Physiol*, 141(2), 373-378. doi: 10.1104/pp.106.079467
- Trujillo, M., Ichimura, K., Casais, C., & Shirasu, K. (2008). Negative regulation of PAMPtriggered immunity by an E3 ubiquitin ligase triplet in Arabidopsis. *Curr Biol*, 18(18), 1396-1401.
- Veronese, P., Nakagami, H., Bluhm, B., Abuqamar, S., Chen, X., Salmeron, J., . . . Mengiste, T. (2006). The membrane-anchored BOTRYTIS-INDUCED KINASE1 plays distinct roles in Arabidopsis resistance to necrotrophic and biotrophic pathogens. *Plant Cell*, 18(1), 257-273. doi: 10.1105/tpc.105.035576
- Wan, J., Zhang, X. C., Neece, D., Ramonell, K. M., Clough, S., Kim, S. Y., . . . Stacey, G. (2008). A LysM receptor-like kinase plays a critical role in chitin signaling and fungal resistance in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell*, 20(2), 471-481.

- Willmann, R., Lajunen, H. M., Erbs, G., Newman, M. A., Kolb, D., Tsuda, K., . . . Nurnberger, T. (2011). Arabidopsis lysin-motif proteins LYM1 LYM3 CERK1 mediate bacterial peptidoglycan sensing and immunity to bacterial infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(49), 19824-19829. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1112862108
- Xiang, T., Zong, N., Zou, Y., Wu, Y., Zhang, J., Xing, W., . . . Zhou, J. M. (2008). Pseudomonas syringae effector AvrPto blocks innate immunity by targeting receptor kinases. *Curr Biol*, 18(1), 74-80. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2007.12.020
- Zhang, J., Li, W., Xiang, T., Liu, Z., Laluk, K., Ding, X., . . . Zhou, J. M. (2010). Receptorlike cytoplasmic kinases integrate signaling from multiple plant immune receptors and are targeted by a Pseudomonas syringae effector. *Cell Host Microbe*, 7(4), 290-301. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.03.007
- Zhang, Z., Wu, Y., Gao, M., Zhang, J., Kong, Q., Liu, Y., . . . Zhang, Y. (2012). Disruption of PAMP-induced MAP kinase cascade by a Pseudomonas syringae effector activates plant immunity mediated by the NB-LRR protein SUMM2. *Cell Host Microbe*, 11(3), 253-263. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.01.015
- Zipfel, C., Kunze, G., Chinchilla, D., Caniard, A., Jones, J. D., Boller, T., & Felix, G. (2006). Perception of the bacterial PAMP EF-Tu by the receptor EFR restricts Agrobacterium-mediated transformation. *Cell*, *125*(4), 749-760.
- Zipfel, C., Robatzek, S., Navarro, L., Oakeley, E. J., Jones, J. D., Felix, G., & Boller, T. (2004). Bacterial disease resistance in Arabidopsis through flagellin perception. *Nature*, 428(6984), 764-767. doi: 10.1038/nature02485